## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHARLES N. JAMES

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

NO. 2006-CA-02024

RACHEL M. CARAWAN

**APPELLEE** 

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE KOSTA N. VLAHOS, CIRCUIT JUDGE DOCKET NO. 01-0373

## **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

Melinda O. Johnson (1974) ALLEN, COBB, HOOD & ATKINSON, P.A. 2512 25<sup>th</sup> Avenue, Suite 3 (39501) Post Office Drawer 4108 Gulfport, MS 39502-4108 Telephone: (228) 864-4011

Facsimile: (228) 864-4852

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLANT

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHARLES N. JAMES

APPELLANT

**VERSUS** 

NO. 2006-CA-02024

RACHEL M. CARAWAN

**APPELLEE**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING A MOTION IN LIMINE ON THE VIDEO SURVEILLANCE TAKEN OF PLAINTIFF ON JULY 31, 2003.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN NOT ADMITTING EVIDENCE PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED PURSUANT TO MISSISSIPPI EVIDENTIARY RULES 803 AND 902
- III. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S JURY INSTRUCTION, D-12, REGARDING MITIGATION OF DAMAGES
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY GRANTED AN ADDITUR AND IMPROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR A NEW TRIAL DUE TO THE COURT'S EVIDENTIARY ERRORS
- V. THE JUDGMENT SHOULD BE REVERSED AND RENDERED, IN THE ALTERNATIVE REVERSE AND REMAND FOR A NEW TRIAL ON THE MERITS

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY:

This is a personal injury lawsuit that was filed by the Plaintiff/Appellee, Rachel M. Carawan, against the Defendant/Appellant, Charles N. James, in the Circuit Court of Hancock County, in which Plaintiff claims injury as a result of a minor impact with her vehicle. Plaintiff initiated this lawsuit by filing her Complaint in the Circuit Court of Hancock County on September 20, 2001. (R. 5-8, R.E. 5-8). In her Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that on or about December 19, 2000, her vehicle was parked at the Diamondhead Chevron, Diamondhead, Mississippi, where she was pumping gas in her car, and she was injured when Defendant backed into the other side of her car from his parking space. As a result of this accident, Plaintiff claimed "severe personal injuries to her body, including but not limited to, her head, neck, and back, which have rendered her temporarily and totally disabled... physical pain, ..now and in the future...excruciating pain in the neck, head and back..., caused Plaintiff to suffer a decline in health, being unable to get her natural sleep..., loss of enjoyment of life..., in the future will spend sums of money for hospital bills, medical expenses, doctor's care, therapy and treatment, medication and drugs, lost wages, and in the future will cause Plaintiff to suffer physical pain and mental anguish, to be permanently disabled and weakened. (R. 5-8, R.E. 5-8). On October 22, 2001, Defendant answered the lawsuit denying these allegations. (R. 12-16, R.E. 9-13).

ist video after depo, The deposition of Plaintiff was taken on January 30, 2002. (R. 27, R.E. 14). Prior to that time, on August 16-17, 2001, the Defendant had obtained video surveillance on the Plaintiff which was produced to Plaintiff's counsel following the deposition of the Plaintiff. Plaintiff's counsel would periodically submit medical reports from Plaintiff's treating physician, neurosurgeon, Dr. Victor Bazzone. On August 8, 2002, Dr. Victor T. Bazzone was designated by Plaintiff as an expert and it was anticipated that he would testify regarding his treatment of

her, that his treatment is causally related to the subject accident, and regarding her physical limitations, medical prognosis and diagnosis. (R. 114-115, R.E. 16-17). Dr. Bazzone's video deposition was taken March 11, 2004. (R. 417-418, R.E. 147-148). It is during this deposition that the Defendant first learned of Dr. Bazzone's referral of Plaintiff to neurosurgeon, Dr. Michael W. Lowry.

In preparation for trial, counsel for the Defendant filed the following Notices of Intent to Offer Records Pursuant to Miss. R. Evid. Rule 902: Dr. Bazzone's medical records (R. 439-452. R.E. 167-180); Dr. Longnecker's medical records (R. 370-376, R.E. 118-124); Total Rehabilitation Physical Therapy medical records (R. 377-395, R.E. 125-143); Hancock Medical Hospital medical records (R. 261-277, R.E. 33-49); Open MRI's medical records (R. 290-295, R.E. 50-55); Memorial Hospital's medical records (R. 261-277, R.E. 33-49); Coastal Chronic Pain Services -- Brian Dix, D.O. records (R. 507-514, R.E. 209-216); Plaintiff's Employment Records from Grand Casino (R. 307-357, R.E. 65-115); Warfield's Auto Body Shop, Inc. estimate of repair totaling \$386.49 for the Plaintiff's 1996 Honda Civic (R. 483-486, R.E. 201-204); Accident Report of November 3, 2003 (R. 503-506, R.E. 205-208); Hancock County Accident Report of December 19, 2000 (R. 507-514, R.E. 209-216); and AMR records for November 3, 2003 treatment (R. 530-538, R.E. 217-225). On March 31, 2003, Plaintiff filed her Objection to Defendant's Notice of Intent to Offer Employment Records on the basis that they have "no probative value" and will not "outweigh the prejudicial effect as to the employment records." (R. 361-362, R.E. 116-117). This was the only objection filed by the Plaintiff in response to the aforementioned Notices of Intent.

or extended to construct to construct to

On March 11, 2003, Defendant filed his Notice of Intent to Offer Surveillance Records and videotape pertaining to surveillance conducted of the Plaintiff from August 3-17, 2001. (R. 246-258 or R 244, R.E. 20-32). In response, Plaintiff filed Objections to Defendant's Notice of

the objection to the video surveillance was that it was not self authenticated and she should have "the right to first examine the proponent of this document as to the completeness of same." Id. Plaintiff does not dispute that the surveillance video was produced almost a year earlier, and an eight page Insight Investigation report of Melissa Dubisson, Operative II, "Summary of Surveillance" was produced in July 2002. (R. 299, 303, R.E. 59, 63). Plaintiff did not request a discovery deposition of Melissa Dubisson nor did she file a Motion to Compel pertaining to said surveillance prior to her Objection in March 2003. On July 31, 2003, the Defendant again obtained video surveillance on the Plaintiff, this time capturing the Plaintiff at Six Flags in New Orleans riding roller coasters and various other amusement park rides. As it had been over a year and a half since the initial deposition, counsel for the Defendant wrote requesting a supplemental deposition of Plaintiff to explore her physical limitations. The Plaintiff refused to submit to another limited deposition and counsel for Defendant filed a Motion to Compel on September 11, 2003. (R. 405-407, R.E. 144-146). Defendant disclosed in said Motion that he had video surveillance of Plaintiff and was entitled to take a supplemental deposition regarding her physical limitations prior to production of same. During a hearing of September 15, 2003, the trial court denied the Motion to Compel and ordered the immediate production of any supplementary video surveillance, and this video surveillance was produced to Plaintiff's counsel. In March 2004, Plaintiff subpoenaed both Scott Dubuisson and Melinda Dubuisson of Insight Investigations to attend the trial scheduled to begin April 5, 2004. (R. 420-421, R.E. 149-150). On March 26, 2004, Defendant again filed his Notice of Intent to Offer Surveillance Records pertaining to the August 3-17, 2001 surveillance videotape. (R. 422-434, R.E. 151-163). On March 29, 2004, Defendant filed his Notice of Intent to Offer Surveillance Records

Intent to Offer Surveillance Records (R. 296-304 or R 244, R.E. 56-64). The Plaintiff's basis for

9/15/52 video produced

pertaining to the July 22-31, 2003 surveillance record and unedited videotape. (R. 474-482, R.E.

SIX Flys had see produced

192-200). On April 2, 2004, Plaintiff filed a Motion in Limine seeking to preclude admission of "surveillance films or photographs of Plaintiff, that have not been produced by discovery, or reference to a second vehicular accident by Plaintiff as "she is not claiming any injury as a resul of this wreck beyond November 3, 2003." (R. 553-558, R.E. 226-231). On April 5, 2003, proceedings were held before Honorable Stephen B. Simpson, Circuit Court Judge, regarding pending motions in preparation for the trial date of April 7, 2003. Plaintiff indicated at that hearing that Plaintiff would not make any future lost wage claims past July 25, 2003. (Tr. 4/5/05 p. 3). Though it was not in the subject Motion in Limine, the Plaintiff indicated at the hearing that she would not introduce any evidence of future lost wages or future pain and suffering and future medical bills past July 29, 2003, and for that reason moved to exclude the surveillance tape of July 31, 2003 of the Plaintiff at Six Flags Amusement Park as being irrelevant. (Tr. 4/5/05 p. 36-49). Counsel for the Defendant stressed to Judge Simpson that despite the Plaintiff's assertions, she was still undergoing medical treatment, and in fact continued to seek medical treatment and was on work restriction due to her alleged medical condition on and following July 29, 2003. (Tr. 4/5/05 p. 40-44). Furthermore, the amusement park video was relevant to the Defendant's position in the case; that the Plaintiff was not injured as a result of the accident of December 19, 2000. (Tr. 4/5/05 p. 47-48). Judge Simpson took the motion under advisement, and on the morning of the first day of trial, he sustained Plaintiff's Motion in Limine to exclude evidence of the surveillance tape of July 31, 2003, "given that no damages in the form of medical expenses, future lost wages, or future medical expenses are being sought from and after July 29, 2003." (Tr. 4/5/05 p. 56). Trial began, however, following a question by defense counsel inquiring as to when Plaintiff began making plans to go to Six Flags, Judge Simpson, by his own motion, declared a mistrial. (R. 587, R.E. 232).

show most

Tor , jude

Following the mistrial, on May 20, 2005, Defendant Noticed the Video Deposition of Dr.

Spellis of Lowy? see ice.

Michael Lowery. (R. 588-589, R.E. 233-234). In response, Plaintiff filed her Motion for Protective Order on May 24, 2005 claiming that allowing the deposition to go forward would reward the Defendant for causing the mistrial. (R. 592-593, R.E. 235-236). As set out in the Defendant's Reply to Motion for Protective Order, the trial court had previously overruled Plaintiff's Motion in Limine to exclude Dr. Lowery's records, and the exclusion of the amusement park surveillance video was made solely because of the date it was taken. As Defendant had only recently learned on March 11, 2004 of Dr. Lowry's involvement in the Plaintiff's treatment, it was imperative for the Defendant to depose Dr. Lowery to understand the full extent of his opinion regarding the nature of the Plaintiff's condition, if any, whether the medical treatment recommended by Dr. Bazzone and received by Plaintiff was reasonable and necessary, as well as any pain and suffering issues. (R. 595-598, R.E. 238-241). The trial court found that "in 2003, Dr. Michael Lowery provided a second opinion regarding Rachel Carawan's medical condition, he is not a treating physician," and at the time the April trial began, "Defendant did not intend to introduce or have any testimony from Dr. Lowery," and therefore, the Plaintiff's Motion for Protective Order was granted. (R. 601, R.E. 244). Defendant filed a Motion for Reconsideration of this ruling as well as the ruling excluding the Six Flags surveillance video. (R. 605-607, R.E. 245-247). The Motion for Reconsideration was denied.

Mot. for Recovid. - Loury - Six Ela

#### **B. TRIAL COURT'S DISPOSITION**

excludal of trial

On the morning of trial on April 6, 2005, the trial court granted Plaintiff's Motion in Limine regarding the introduction of the Six Flags video surveillance and instructed counsel for the Defendant to not mention the video to the jury. The Plaintiff's first witness testified concerning Plaintiff's condition prior to the December 2000 accident compared to her present condition, and during cross-examination of that witness a question was asked by counsel for Defendant about whether she was aware of Plaintiff's plans to visit Six Flags; a question which

did not mention any video and fell within the relevancy time period of the trial court's instruction. On the trial court's own motion, a Mistrial was declared. (R. 587, R.E. 232).

Trial was rescheduled for August 2006 and this time was presided over by the Honorable Kosta Vlahos. During voir dire, counsel for the Plaintiff inquired as to potential bias of the jury venires regarding surveillance. (Tr. 52-53). Defense counsel also made inquiry in voir dire as to the potential venires' objectivity as far as video surveillance that was taken by "Linda Dubuisson who was associated with Insights Investigation." (Tr. 58). At trial, the trial court made numerous evidentiary rulings as detailed herein which prevented the Defendant from having a fair trial; rulings which excluded evidence and testimony regarding documentation which had appropriately been submitted pursuant to Rule 911 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. While Defendant admitted fault for the accident of December 19, 2000, he strongly contested the extent to which, if any, Plaintiff was injured as a result of the minor accident. Plaintiff was allowed to testify that she incurred \$22,200.52 in medical expenses and lost wages in the amount of \$11,284.00. (Tr. 124, 125, Plaintiff's Exhibits 1 and 2). Additionally, Judge Vlahos refused a jury instruction offered by Defendant, D-12, on the mitigation of damages issue despite evidence that Plaintiff failed to heed or follow recommendations of her medical providers. (R. 640, R.E. 248, Tr. 316-319). Following deliberation, the Jury returned a 9-3 verdict in favor of Plaintiff and assessed damages in the amount of \$33,484.52. (R. 646-647, Tr. 345, R.E. 249-250). Judgment was entered on that date, August 16, 2006, in favor of the Plaintiff in that amount. Id. On August 28, 2006, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Additur as she claimed that "it was unrebutted that she endured physical pain and suffering from December 19, 2000 through July 29, 2003." (R. 648-655, R.E. 251-258). Defendant filed his Motion for a New Trial and Response to Plaintiff's Motion for Additur on August 28, 2006. (R. 656-670, R.E. 259-273). On October 19, 2006, Judge Vlahos entered an Order denying Defendant's post trial motion for a new trial and

Dadritted fault fault fault fault steel constituted of estant of injury

Does video import physical part & sufts: - Ewas ok at the fine

granted Plaintiff an additur in the amount of \$30,000.00 for a total verdict of \$64,484.52. (R. 671-674, R.E. 274-277). The trial court noted in his order that "evidence of physical pain and suffering by the Plaintiff was never contradicted by the Defendant." *Id.* Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal on November 20, 2006. (R. 675-676, R.E. 278-279).

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

On December 19, 2000 at approximately 9:40 PM, the Defendant/Appellant, Charles James, who was 63 years old at the time, traveled a short distance to the Diamondhead Chevron from his job as a security guard with Gulf Coast Security at Diamondhead. (Tr. 288). The purpose of his trip to Chevron was to fill his personal car up with gasoline and to get a cup of coffee. (Tr. 289). After getting gas, Defendant pulled his vehicle, a Ford Crown Victoria, into a parking spot outside of the convenience store. (Tr. 295). Shortly thereafter, Plaintiff/Appellee, Rachel Carawan, who was 25 years old at the time, pulled up to a gasoline pump in her vehicle, a 1996 Honda Civic, which was occupied by her best friend, Pamela Liles and Ms. Liles' three year old child. (Tr. 103-104, 178). Plaintiff exited her vehicle and was pumping gas, leaning against the vehicle with her backside to the car holding the pump handle in her left hand. (Tr. 160, 163). As she was filling her vehicle with gasoline, Defendant exited the convenience store with a cup of coffee, put it in his vehicle's cup holder and proceeded to back up, as he was doing so he was turning his steering wheel to angle his vehicle towards his planned path of exit. (Tr. 292). Defendant was backing his vehicle out of a parking space that was essentially perpendicular to Plaintiff's vehicle and, although he looked behind him and in both mirrors, he did not see Plaintiff's vehicle behind him. (Tr. 289, 292). Defendant was looking in his rear view mirror as he was backing up and saw Plaintiff "waving her hands," at the time he felt the bump. (Tr. 293). He applied his brakes at impact. (Tr. 293). Defendant's rear bumper ended up bumping the right rear bumper area of Plaintiff's vehicle, and he "felt a slight bump." (Tr. 289).

Defendant estimated that he was traveling probably 2 miles per hour when he felt his vehicle bump Plaintiff's vehicle. (Tr. 290).

Prior to the impact, Ms. Liles saw Defendant's vehicle backing up towards their car and she banged on the window to alert Plaintiff. (Tr. 160). Plaintiff claims that this banging noise alerted her; "I turned my torso with my back still against the car and looked in and then at time" my vehicle was struck. (Tr. 160). Plaintiff's account of the accident varied during her testimony. She was "thrown forward into the pump," making physical contact with the gas pump, which was two or three feet from her prior to impact, though she "didn't slam into it." (Tr. 160-162). She didn't feel that the force was violent enough to slam her into the pump; however, she testified that it was "a little bit of force behind it, enough force to push me off my car." (Tr. 162). Plaintiff could not recall what part of her body made contact with the pump as "everything happened really fast." (Tr. 161). She also could not recall how she caught herself on the pump or whether she turned as she was moving towards the pump. (Tr. 163). Plaintiff denied receiving any bruises as a result of the accident. (Tr. 161).

Following this minor accident, Defendant got out of his vehicle and Plaintiff said, "didn't

you see me," to which he replied, "no, I did not." (Tr. 289). Plaintiff "appeared to be all right,"

and Defendant checked both cars for damages, but didn't find any. (Tr. 289). He did observe that Plaintiff's vehicle had "some paint flakes on her rear end passenger's side," but no dents or damage. (Tr. 290). Plaintiff's vehicle sustained \$386.00 in property damage to the right rear bumper cover as a result of this accident. (Tr. 161). A photograph depicting the scuff mark to the Plaintiff's bumper was introduced into evidence. (Tr. 163-164, D's Ex. 3). Defendant also looked at the Plaintiff's rear tire and pavement to see if the impact had pushed or moved the

small area had populated in the out

Plaintiff did not report any injury or complain of pain to Defendant or to the investigating officer

Plaintiff's vehicle, and he believed that the car had not been pushed or moved. (Tr. 290-291).

at the scene. (Tr. 110, 165, 291). Plaintiff did not appear to be in any kind of pain according to Defendant's observation of her at the scene. (Tr. 291). Neither Ms. Liles nor her small child was injured in the accident. (Tr. 103-104). Ms. Liles testified that she did not see what happened to Plaintiff during the accident as she was not looking in her direction. (Tr. 104). Ms. Liles was seated in the front passenger seat when the accident occurred, and the impact, according to her, did not move her from her seat; "my bottom was never pushed out of the seat." (Tr. 106). Defendant testified that the impact was so minor he did not spill a single drop of coffee which was in a Styrofoam cup located in the cup holder in the ashtray area, and was filled "about a quarter of an inch from the top." (Tr. 289-290). The impact was minor and resulted in no damage to Defendant's car. (Tr. 291).

Despite the minor impact, Plaintiff claims to have experienced back pain the day

.

physical Heropy noncopliance following the accident. (Tr. 110). She was seen and released the same day from Hancock Medical Center Emergency Department. (Tr. 111, R. 275-276, R.E. 47-58). A week later Plaintiff went to Memorial Hospital Emergency Department for mid-back pain "following a MVA." (Tr. 112, R. 268, R.E. 40). Plaintiff did not work from December 19, 2000 until April 2001. (Tr. 111). Plaintiff followed up with Dr. Wilensky who prescribed Celebrex and physical therapy. (Tr. 112). Plaintiff participated in some physical therapy from April 20, 2001 until she was discharged from physical therapy for "noncompliance" for a second time on July 23, 2001. (R. 377-395, R.E. 125-143). During that timeframe, she was seen by Dr. M. F. Longnecker who prescribed electrical stimulation, exercises, and obtained an MRI of Ms. Carawan's thoracic and cervical regions, which he reviewed, and documented, "in my opinion they are normal." (R. 374, R.E. 122).

The Plaintiff knew neurosurgeon, Dr. Victor Bazzone, as on most every Friday, he would come to LB's Restaurant at the Grand Casino in Gulfport where the Plaintiff worked as a

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