IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-CA-02024

CHARLES N. JAMES

APPELLANT

VERSUS

RACHEL M. CARAWAN

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE KOSTA N. VLAHOS, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE DOCKET NO. 01-0373

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

RACHEL M. CARAWAN

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

MARIANO J. BARVIÉ (HOPKINS, BARVIE & HOPKINS, P.L.L.C. 2701 24th Avenue Gulfport, Mississippi 39501 (228) 864-2200

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE RACHEL M. CARAWAN

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This matter was originally scheduled for trial before the Honorable Stephen Simpson beginning on April 6, 2005. Prior to trial, Judge Simpson held hearing on the parties respective motions *In Limine*, and after oral argument, properly excluded surveillance video taken of Plaintiff after July 29, 2003, the date of her second and final epidural treatment. The trial court held that since Plaintiff was not claiming injury, future lost wages or future medical expenses, Defendant's counsel could not to go into the circumstances regarding either the surveillance video, or Plaintiff's activities on July 31, 2003 (the date of the video). Instead, Defendant's counsel violated the trial court's instruction and examined one of Plaintiff's witnesses regarding the excluded evidence. As a result, Plaintiff (and not the trial court as misrepresented by Defendant) moved for an immediate mistrial,

which was granted by the trial court. Hurricane Katrina intervened and this matter was subsequently re-set and tried before the Honorable Kosta Vlahos on August 14, 15 and 16, 2006 in the Circuit Court of Hancock County, Mississippi. The evidence presented by Plaintiff certainly warranted a jury verdict for Plaintiff, as Defendant failed to offer any evidence whatsoever (including expert witness report(s) and/or testimony), to rebut the evidence put forth by Plaintiff. The jury returned a verdict for Plaintiff in the amount of \$33,484.52 for lost wages and medical expenses.

The lack of evidence presented by Defendant, particularly, Plaintiff's medical records and employment records, was due to Defendant's own actions, specifically, his failure to properly offer said records into the trial record, as Defendant attempted to break apart the records and introduce only piecemeal portions of the records, so as to present a picture of Plaintiff's medical and employment history out of context, and attempting to put forth an incomplete version of the medical records. When Plaintiff made proper objection, pursuant to Miss. R. Evid, 106 and Miss. Code Ann. § 41-9-109 (1972), the trial court properly sustained Plaintiff's objection and excluded the evidence. Defendant erroneously argued for admission of the records, based on Miss R. Evid. 902, and later during trial, Miss. R. Evid. 803. Defendant completely misconstrued and misapplied the rules (at trial and now in this Appeal), taking the erroneous position that all evidence introduced at trial comes in (regardless of admissibility), so long as he has filed notice(s) of intent pursuant to Rule 902. In fact, the trial court went so far as to explain to Defendant the method for properly introducing the records into the trial record and even afforded Defendant the opportunity to cure his error, when cross-examining Plaintiff's expert witness, Dr. Bazzone. Defendant, however, did not take advantage of the opportunity, nor did he seek to call Plaintiff during his case in chief, and/or to use the excluded evidence at that time. As a result, Defendant waived any arguments regarding the exclusion of Plaintiff's medical and employment records, and, as such, any alleged error was waived.

In addition, because there was no evidence in the Record supporting Defendant's mitigation of damages jury instruction, it was also properly denied by the trial court.

In response, Defendant filed a motion for new trial, while Plaintiff filed a motion seeking an additur for Plaintiff's pain and suffering. The post-trial motions were heard by Judge Vlahos in Biloxi, Mississippi on October 23, 2006, and decision was rendered, wherein Defendant's motion for new trial was denied, while Plaintiff's motion for additur was granted in the amount of \$30,000.00. Aggrieved, Defendant has appealed the trial court's decision and has set forth four (4) assignments of error for review.

Finally, Defendant's counsel, throughout these proceedings, has repeatedly crossed the line of "zealously" advocating Defendant's case, by making unsubstantiated assertions in his Brief that Judge Simpson's ruling (regarding exclusion of Defendant videotape evidence) "was an adoption of Plaintiff's argument" and that "Plaintiff's plan was endorsed by the trial court". Plaintiff would respectfully request that any disrespectful language by Defendant regarding the trial court be stricken from Defendant's Brief by this Court, pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure. In addition, and repeatedly throughout these proceedings and his Brief, Defendant has also implied that an inappropriate relationship existed between Plaintiff and her treating physician and expert witness, Dr. Bazzone. Plaintiff would submit that rather than casting dispersions upon individuals of unquestioned integrity and professionalism, Defendant would be better served by focusing on the merits of his case.

A. Defendant's First assignment of error is without merit as neither Judge Simpson nor Judge Vlahos abused their discretion and/or commit reversible error in by granting Plaintiff's Motion In Limine.

With respect to Defendant's first assigned error for review, it is abundantly clear that Judge

would it appt juy in value of chain to le

Simpson made the proper ruling in granting Plaintiff's motion. Judge Simpson recognized the highly prejudicial nature of the video, particularly with respect to the fact that the video depicted Plaintiff at a time (July 29, 2003), subsequent to the time during which Plaintiff is alleging injury and seeking relief. As the Court explained, "... whether or not it's real and probative evidence of the absence of an injury or evidence of the severity of the of the injury would indeed be helpful to the jury if it had to assist them in the value of the claim to be made." (TR. Supplemental Vol. 1, p. 40, R.E. 129). The Court, in so ruling, further explained that "[G]iven no damages in the form of medical expenses, future lost wages, or future medical expenses are being sought from or after July 29th of 2003. I'm of the opinion that the prejudicial value of that (the video) outweighs its probative value given your plaintiff is seeking no relief from and after that date." (TR. Supplemental Vol. 1, p. 49, R.E. 131). Furthermore, the primary cases cited by Defendant as being contrary to Judge Simpson's ruling, Williams v. Dixie Electric Power Association, 514 So.2d 332 (Miss. 1987) and Congleton v. Shellfish Culture, Inc., 807 So.2d 492 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), are both distinguishable to the facts in the instant case. Specifically, both appellant, Williams and appellant Congleton, were alleging injury up to and including the time during which the surveillance video was taken, whereas Plaintiff is asserting no injury and/or claiming any damages whatsoever for the period of time (and beyond) that Defendant's video surveillance was taken.

Defendant argues that as a result of the filing of his Notice of Intent, pursuant to Miss. R. Evid 902, combined with Plaintiff's failure to timely respond (i.e. object) to said Notice, Plaintiff has <u>waived</u> any argument as to the video's *admissibility*. Defendant's argument is misplaced. As previously stated, Defendant completely misconstrues and misapplies Miss. R. Evid. 902, taking the erroneous position that all evidence introduced at trial comes in (regardless of admissibility), so long as he has filed notice(s) of intent pursuant to Rule 902. Miss. R. Evid. 902 speaks to "authenticity

as a condition precedent to admissibility", not admissibility based on relevance and probativeness, which is what Plaintiff's Motion *In Limine* was based upon and what Judge Simpson based his ruling. Furthermore, Defendant filed a Motion *In Limine* on April 2, 2004, attempting to restrict Plaintiff's ability to claim damages into the future, and requesting that Plaintiff not be able to ask for future medical treatment and future loss of wages. At the hearing before Judge Simpson on April 5, 2005, Plaintiff agreed that she would not claim any damages past July 29, 2003, the date of Plaintiff's second epidural treatment and the date of her return to work. (R. 515-517, R.E. 93-95; TR. Supplemental Vol. 1, p. 3, R.E. 127). While on the one hand, Defendant asked the court to prevent Plaintiff from making claims of future damages, Defendant wanted to use surveillance film after the period of time Plaintiff was claiming damages. For these reasons and additional reasons, as will be set forth below, Defendant's argument has no merit and must be denied.

B. Defendant's second assignment of error is without merit as Judge Vlahos did not abuse his discretion and/or commit reversible error by excluding improperly offered evidence.

As to Defendant's second argument regarding Judge Vlahos' refusal to allow Defendant to offer into evidence, and/or cross examine Plaintiff, using her employment records and medical records, Defendant's arguments are again misplaced and without merit. Defendant frames his argument as one in which Judge Vlahos abused his discretion by improperly excluding evidence previously submitted pursuant to Miss. R. Evid. 902(11) and Miss. R. Evid. 803. However, with respect to Plaintiff's Grand Casino employment records, the Record is clear that Defendant's Notice of Intent to Offer Plaintiff's Employment Records was timely objected to, but never ruled on prior to trial. Therefore, the records were not self-authenticated, and as a result, the trial court was correct in sustaining Plaintiff's timely objection, raised at trial, when Defendant attempted to improperly

Eup recs not ruled not prior to fill admit said un-authenticated records without a sponsoring witness. As to the medical records, and contrary to Defendant's assertions, Defendant continually attempted to have Plaintiff's hospital records improperly admitted into evidence, by offering singular document exhibit(s) culled from the cumulative and complete medical records. Counsel for Plaintiff made proper and timely objection(s) and the Court sustained the objection(s). (TR. Vol. 6, pp. 137-139). In fact the Court went so far as to explain to Defendant's counsel the proper method for introducing this evidence into the Record. (TR. Vol. 6, p.141 - Vol. 7, p.159). For these reasons, Defendant's arguments are without merit and must be denied.

C. Defendant's third assignment of error is without merit as Judge Vlahos did not abuse his discretion and/or commit reversible error by refusing to allow Defendant's mitigation of damages jury instruction.

As to Defendant's third argument regarding Judge Vlahos' refusal to allow Defendant's mitigation of damages jury instruction, while Mississippi jurisprudence does state that a party is entitled to a jury instruction regarding his/her theory of the case, there must be some <u>credible evidence</u> in the record which would support the instruction. *Purina Mills, Inc. v. E.R. Moak, et al.*, 575 So.2d 993 (Miss. 1991)(Emphasis added). Furthermore, this Court has held that the Circuit Court enjoys "considerable discretion regarding the form and substance of jury instructions." *Splain v. Hines*, 669 So.2d 1234, 1239 (Miss. 1992) citing *Rester v. Lott*, 556 So.2d 1266, 1269 (Miss. 1990). Judge Vlahos, in denying Defendant's jury instruction made the proper ruling, as the Record is clear that Defendant put forth <u>no evidence</u> in the form of expert testimony, and/or other evidence to support such an instruction. (TR. Vol. 8, pp.315-319; R 671-674, R.E. 114-117).

nb evil.

D. Defendant's fourth assignment of error is without merit as Judge Vlahos did not abuse his discretion and/or commit reversible error by denying Defendant's Motion for New Trial, and granting Plaintiff's Motion for Additur.

Finally, Defendant's argument regarding Judge Vlahos's denial of Defendant's Motion for New Trial, and granting of Plaintiff's Motion for Additur in the amount of \$30,000.00, is likewise misplaced and without merit. As Defendant accurately states, in determining whether to grant a motion for new trial, the credible evidence "must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party". *Green v. Grant*, 641 So.2d 1203, 1207 (Miss 1994). In addition, "[T]he grant or denial of a motion for a new trial is and always been a matter largely within the sound discretion of the trial judge." *Green*, 641 So.2d at 1207. In the instant cause, the credible *admissible* evidence (i.e. the entire Record) was, in fact, reviewed by Judge Vlahos, who, in holding that all favorable inferences are granted in favor of the non-moving party (i.e. the Plaintiff), pursuant to Mississippi jurisprudence, properly denied Defendant's Motion for New Trial (R. 671-674, R.E. 114-117).

As to Plaintiff's Motion for Additur in the amount of \$30,000.00, this Court has previously ordered an additur of \$10,000.00, where the plaintiff had incurred medical bills of \$2,831.25. The Court held that where medical bills were uncontradicted, no allowance was made for pain and suffering on the part of the jury, the jury award was so inadequate as to shock the conscience and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Maddox v. Muirhead*, 738 So.2d 742 (Miss. 1999). Judge Vlahos in the instant cause found that the jury had awarded the exact amount of medical bills and lost wages submitted by Plaintiff, but failed to award any damages for pain and suffering. Judge Vlahos also found that Defendant never contradicted any of the evidence of physical pain and suffering put forth by Plaintiff, nor did Defendant contradict any of the medical bills put forth by Plaintiff. As a result, Judge Vlahos in granting the additur properly found that the jury verdict "was contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence and so inadequate as to shock the conscience of the court", and further properly found, that "the medical bills incurred by the Plaintiff in this case were uncontradicted and no allowance was made for pain and suffering on the part of the

jury. As such, this Court finds that the jury verdict was contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence and so inadequate as to shock the conscience of the court." (R. 671-674, R.E. 114-117).

III.

ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION AND/OR COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION IN LIMINE AS TO THE VIDEO SURVEILLANCE TAKEN OF PLAINTIFF ON JULY 31, 2003.

The standard of review for the trial court's admission or exclusion of evidence is the abuse of discretion standard. *Thompson Mach. Commerce Corp. v. Wallace*, 687 So.2d 149, 152 (Miss. 1997); *Wade v. State*, 583 So.2d 965, 967 (Miss. 1991). As previously summarized above, it is abundantly clear that Judge Simpson made the proper ruling by granting Plaintiff's motion *In Limine* on April 5, 2005, regarding video surveillance taken of Plaintiff on July 31, 2003. (R. 553-558, R.E. 96-101; TR. Supplemental Vol. 1, pp. 39-40, 49, R.E. 128-129, 131). Judge Simpson recognized the highly prejudicial nature of this video, particularly in light of the fact that this video depicted Plaintiff at a time (July 29, 2003), <u>subsequent</u> to that time during which Plaintiff was seeking relief. Defendant argues that Judge Simpson abused his discretion, first by denying Defendant's Motion to Compel, and then by subsequently granting Plaintiff's Motion *In Limine*, with the end result being that Defendant's centerpiece evidence, the videotaped surveillance of Plaintiff riding amusement park rides at Six Flags, New Orleans, Louisiana on July 31, 2003 was improperly excluded. Plaintiff would submit that the arguments raised by Defendant are a smokescreen, and that the law and the Record clearly support Judge Simpson's ruling.

Plaintiff, first and foremost, moves to strike any and all specific references made by

pale of Brief not!

11/19/07, it was not!

Defendant as to

Defendant as to any <u>content</u> of said July 31, 2003 videotape as, based on Plaintiff's information and belief, said videotape is <u>not</u> part of the Record on Appeal, is <u>not</u> before this Court, and as such <u>cannot be considered</u> by this Court as part of Defendant's Appeal. See *Ross v. State*, 603 So.2d 857, 861 (Miss. 1992)(citing *Collins v. State*, 594 So.2d 29 (Miss. 1992); *Mason v. State*, 440 So.2d 318, 319 (Miss. 1983); *Branch v. State*, 347 So.2d 957, 958-59 (Miss. 1977)). Secondly, Plaintiff moves to strike <u>any</u> argument made by Defendant regarding the trial court's denial of his Motion to Compel on September 15, 2003 (R.405-407), as denial of said motion was not cited by Defendant as a basis for new trial in his Motion for New Trial (R. 656-664, R.E. 105-113), and as such is <u>not</u> part of the Record on Appeal, is <u>not</u> before this Court, and, likewise, <u>cannot be considered</u> by this Court as part of Defendant's Appeal.

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